FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/30/2023 9:41 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102143-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Petitioner,

v.

A PLACE FOR ROVER INC.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

6-30-23:
Treated as a petition for review.
Supreme Court
Clerk's Office

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom, WSBA No. 24163 Maureen Mannix, WSBA No. 12521 Senior Counsel Office Id. No. 91081 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

I. INTRODUCTION

Vulnerable workers in the gig economy deserve access to medical care and wage benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act to help them recover when they are injured. Because their work is more fluid, gig workers have less access to workplace safety and health practices and suffer more injuries than other workers. Not only does their precarious situation cry out for workers' compensation coverage, but they are also entitled to coverage under the Act.

Injured persons may receive industrial insurance coverage if they are "working under an independent contract" with an employer. RCW 51.08.180. Pet-care providers contract with A Place for Rover, Inc. to walk, groom, and board dogs.

Deserving coverage, providers work "under" a master Terms of Service contract with Rover for the "provision of pet care

¹ RCW 51.08.180 was recently amended. Laws of 2023, ch. 88, § 8; Laws of 2022, ch. 281, § 10. But these amendments didn't change the language applied here, so former RCW 51.08.180 will be called "RCW 51.08.180."

services." Contracts here involve three parties: a master contract governs Rover, the providers, and customer pet owners and subcontracts govern the providers and the customers.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the providers didn't satisfy the definition of worker in RCW 51.08.180, concluding they only worked "under" contract with the customers and not Rover. The realities of the situation show otherwise: Rover requires providers work under the master contract that declares it is for the "provision of pet care services" if the providers wish to obtain work, takes a proportional cut of the fee charged for labor, functions as a business only if it has the labor to earn the fee, mandates the customer to honor prices and other subcontract terms, screens applicants with background checks, problem solves if a provider doesn't show up for a job, tracks dog walkers through GPS, and manages work under the master contract by denying payment to providers who provide substandard work.

Failing to recognize that multiple contracts can and do apply to the same labor, the Court of Appeals used the fact that there were subcontracts between the providers and the customers to deny workers' compensation coverage. Yet, as early as 1939, the Court recognized that there could be more than one contract that an injured person works under, and they may still receive coverage. *Lunday v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 200 Wash. 620, 624, 94 P.2d 744 (1939).

And the Court reaffirmed this principle just recently in Department of Labor & Industries v. Lyons Enterprises, Inc.,

185 Wn.2d 721, 738-39, 374 P.3d 1097 (2016), and earlier in Dana's Housekeeping, Inc. v. Department of Labor & Industries, 76 Wn. App. 600, 607-08, 886 P.2d 1147 (1995)).

These cases hold that that work with a customer doesn't exclude the injured person from workers' compensation coverage. The Court of Appeals failed to follow these decisions in its conflicting decision, meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Lyons also recognized that the Act must be liberally construed in favor of workers. Although the Court of Appeals openly acknowledged "a 'grey area' between a person who clearly is a worker and a person who clearly is not" (Slip op. 17), it abandoned liberal construction—resolving the "grey area" in favor of Rover, not the injured providers as required by RCW 51.12.010.

Not only did the Court of Appeals discard 105 years of precedent by not applying liberal construction, but it used the fact that the providers labored in the context of an internet platform and app to disqualify the providers from coverage. But there is no exemption for pet-care providers in the Act.

Review should be granted to protect workers against the Court of Appeals' mistaken approach. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS/DECISION

Petitioner Department of Labor and Industries seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision in *Dept. of*

Lab. & Indus. v. A Place for Rover Inc., No. 56929-9-II (Wash. Ct. App. June 6, 2023).; see App.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Workers may receive industrial insurance benefits if they work "under an independent contract." Do pet-care providers work under an independent contract when they contract with Rover to enable the "provision of pet care services"?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Gig Economy Uses New Technology for Traditional Labor

Work in the gig economy is expanding rapidly. As of 2020, at least 59 million American adults participated nationally in the gig economy, roughly 36 percent of the workforce, and more than 50 percent of the workforce will be part of the gig economy by 2027. Nigel Wilson, *Taking a Page*

from Inclusive Capitalism, the U.S. Gig Economy Is Here to Stay, Forbes (Feb. 8, 2023).²

Work in the gig economy involves on-demand project-based labor such as driving, delivery, home-care services, cleaning, and home repair that gig workers obtain online or through smartphone apps. Alex Kirven, Comment, *Whose Gig Is It Anyway? Technological Change, Workplace Control and Supervision, and Workers' Rights in the Gig Economy*, 89 U. Colo. L. Rev. 249, 258 (2018). Despite the new packaging, the work remains the same—personal labor provided to others. *See id*. The labor here is pet care, yet this case affects more than pet care.

There are both advantages and disadvantages to gig
work. Workers may have "greater worker autonomy than
traditional employment" and consumers may have lower costs.

²https://www.forbes.com/sites/nigelwilson/2023/02/08/ta king-a-page-from-inclusive-capitalism-the-us-gig-economy-is-here-to-stay/?sh=6b34942c25f0.

Kirven, 89 U. Colo. L. Rev. at 253. But "workers forgo many of the benefits afforded to full-time employees." Id. "Several studies [have found] that platform workers are especially vulnerable to job insecurity, unpredictable work schedules, and low wages." Paul Glavin & Scott Schieman, Dependence and Hardship in the Gig Economy: The Mental Health Consequences of Platform Work, 8 SOCIUS, 2022, at 2.3 "Black workers are disproportionately subjected to precarious work, lower wages, and greater risk" in gig work. Christy England, Old Boundaries, New Horizons: How Anti-Discrimination Law Can Better Protect Black Gig Workers in the Time of COVID-19, Nat'l Inst. for Workers' Rts. (Aug. 11, 2021). Many gig workers are without health insurance. Mette

³https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/epub/10.1177/2378023 1221082414.

⁴ https://niwr.org/2021/08/11/old-boundaries-new-horizons/.

Lykke Nielsen et al., Who Takes Care of Safety and Health

Among Young Workers? 149 Safety Science, 2022, at 10.5

Gig workers have less access to workplace safety and health practices than other workers. *Id.*; Jeffrey Gross, *Gig Workers Comprise the Majority of Worker Deaths*, HG.org Legal Res. (last visited June 9, 2023).⁶ At least one study has shown that overall, gig workers have "a greater risk of injury during work or the commute to work in almost every occupation type." Yusaku Morita et al., *Relationship Between Occupational Injury and Gig Work Experience in Japanese Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Internet Survey*, 60 Indus. Health 360, 362 (2022).⁷ "The lack of

⁵https://www.researchgate.net/publication/358213090_W ho_takes_care_of_safety_and_health_among_young_workers_Responsibilization_of_OSH_in_the_platform_economy.

⁶ https://www.hg.org/legal-articles/gig-workers-comprise-the-majority-of-worker-deaths-53358#:~:text=From%202016%20to%202017%2C%201%2C275,extraction%2C%20and%20landscaping%20occupations%20 followed.

⁷https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC945356 6/.

a traditional employment relationship frequently means that gig-work often lacks structured workplace training and supervision." Travis Clark, *The Gig Is Up: An Analysis of the Gig-Economy and an Outdated Worker Classification System in Need of Reform*, 19 Seattle J. Soc. Just. 769, 777 (2021). And risks to health and safety are exacerbated when workers' compensation is not provided. *Id*.

B. Pet-Care Providers Furnish Labor: Pet Sitting, Pet Grooming, Dog Walking, and House Sitting

Rover.com is an internet platform that drives the business model of A Place for Rover, Inc. for pet-care services. AR 480, 496. Before signing a provider to the platform, Rover requires third-party background checks. AR 505, 1327, 1334. Rover's website emphasizes Rover reviews the providers' applications, selecting only 20 percent of applicants. AR 779.

To use Rover.com, providers and pet owners must agree to Rover's Terms of Service contract. AR 479-80. Providers must use preset templates to create profiles using the Rover-branded application. AR 608, 673-74, 800-01. Rover requires

providers to post certain content to their profiles, and it may remove or screen for inappropriate content. AR 547-48, 794-95, 807-08.

Using Rover.com, providers offer pet sitting, pet boarding, pet grooming, and dog walking. AR 576, 643, 647, 664, 676, 691, 815-16. The providers set terms about the rate, time of service, and type of service. AR 481, 611, 613-14, 689-91, 1281. As for these terms, the Terms of Service require customers to honor the prices and other contract terms. AR 1327.

Rover dictates payment terms. Pet owners pre-pay Rover; Rover then pays itself and the providers, but only after a 48-hour hold with a 25 percent fee to Rover. *See* AR 503-04, 537, 573, 1282, 1331-33. Providers cannot work for free. AR 1302.

Rover expects providers to abide by its standard of care.

AR 501, 1329, 1333. Rover may decide that a provider's service didn't meet Rover's standards. AR 1333. Rover then

manages the work by exercising its discretion to refund customers' fees without paying the provider:

Refunds for Substandard Services. If we determine in our reasonable discretion that a Service Provider has failed to provide Pet Care Services as agreed with the Pet Owner or otherwise in accordance with these Terms then we may, in our reasonable discretion, cancel a Booking and/or issue a full or partial refund to a Pet Owner.

AR 1333.

Rover dictates a provider not engage in "inappropriate" or "unsafe" behavior related to the "Rover Service" or face termination:

If we believe your conduct on the site or Rover Service is inappropriate, unsafe or violates these terms, and for any other reason (or no reason at all), we reserve the right to suspend or terminate your access to the Rover Service in our sole discretion.

AR 1329. And Rover can remove that provider from the Rover website for cancellations. AR 1332. Showing the importance of

⁸ "Rover Service" is "the provision of pet care services." AR 1326.

the provider's labor, if the provider cancels, Rover finds substitute labor. AR 1332. And Rover mandates the type of cancellation policies the providers may use. AR 599, 1332.

Finally, Rover uses GPS to show where a provider takes a dog for a walk, using timers for the start and end time. AR 627-28, 811. Rover saves the recordings, and the dog walker cannot turn off the app feature. AR 627-28.

C. Rover Acknowledges that Without the Pet-Care Providers' Labor It Has No Business

Rover's Terms of Service contract emphasizes the arrangement is for the "provision of pet care services." AR 1326. Rover concedes that without providers, Rover has no business; providers are its sole income source. AR 554. "If there are no pet sitters, there's no profitable business that Rover can maintain." AR 812.

D. L&I Ordered Rover to Pay Premiums After Pet-Care Providers Suffered Injuries, but L&I's Decision Was Reversed

In 2017, pet-care providers contracting with Rover suffered dog bites and other injuries, and they reported industrial injuries to L&I. AR 732-35, 1737-39.

L&I assessed Rover for unpaid industrial insurance premiums because Rover didn't pay to cover the providers. AR 732-35, 1696-97, 1735-36.

The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals reversed

L&I's order, ruling the contract "is the use of Rover's online

platform in exchange for a fee, not the personal labor of the pet
service provider." AR 6.

The superior court and Court of Appeals affirmed. CP 138-39; Slip op.20.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Protecting Workers in the Gig Economy Presents an Issue of Significant Public Interest, and the Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with *Lyons*

The Court of Appeals' decision failed to further the Legislature's intent for broad industrial insurance coverage for Washington workers when the court resolved the "grey area" in Rover's favor, disqualified gig workers based on the nature of platforms they used rather than the nature of work performed, and issued a decision that conflicts with opinions from this Court in *Lyons* and the Court of Appeals in *Dana's*. Review should be granted because the case presents an issue of substantial public interest and because of the conflicts. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

1. The Court of Appeals acted against 105 years of precedent by resolving the "grey area" against a rapidly growing gig workforce who face health and safety risks

Gig economy workers face hardship in their working conditions, often working with unsafe conditions, no insurance, and a heightened risk of injury. *See supra* Part IV.A. The gig

economy is growing rapidly, projected to be 50 percent of the workforce by 2027. *Id.* at page 4. The sheer scope of the effect of this decision on Washington gig workers warrants review.

The decision here threatens the health of workers and the welfare of Washington. *See* RCW 51.04.010 (emphasizing that the state's welfare depends "even more upon the welfare of its wage worker"). This Court has underscored the legislative intent to protect workers as the Industrial Insurance Act's purpose is to "allocate the cost of workplace injuries to the industry that produces them" to motivate "employers to make workplaces safer." *Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 1, 19, 201 P.3d 1011 (2009).

The Court of Appeals characterized the case here as involving a "grey area' between a person who clearly is a worker and a person who clearly is not." Slip op. 17. But such a "grey area" must be interpreted in favor of coverage. *See Cockle v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 821-22, 16 P.3d 583 (2001); *Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 734. RCW 51.12.010

mandates that Title 51 "shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries." The *Lyons* Court stressed the Act is remedial, with "doubts resolved in favor of the worker." 185 Wn.2d at 734 (quoting *Dennis v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)). Liberal construction dates back as far as at least 1918, and it should be applied here. *See Carlson v. Mock*, 102 Wash. 557, 559, 173 P. 637 (1918).

2. Using a business model as a disqualifier for workers' compensation benefits is unsupported by the Industrial Insurance Act

"the realities of the situation" for the workers. *Lyons*, 185

Wn.2d at 735-36 (quoting *B & R Sales, Inc. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 186 Wn. App. 367, 377, 344 P.3d 741 (2015)). The reality here is personal labor performed under Rover's master contract. So the Board scrapped core coverage principles when it concluded that the Rover contract is for "the use of Rover's

online platform in exchange for a fee, not the personal labor of the pet service provider," de facto exempting such work. AR 6.

These workers are covered under the Industrial Insurance Act and as the Legislature plainly stated "it is the purpose of this title to embrace all employments." RCW 51.12.010. If the Legislature wanted to exempt providers who work via internet platforms and smartphone apps, it would have done so under the long list of work exempted in RCW 51.12.020.

Indeed the Legislature did create an exemption (now reversed) for transportation-service drivers like Uber drivers but not pet-care type of work. Laws of 2015, ch. 236, § 4; Laws of 2022, ch. 281, § 10. When the Legislature treats similar subject matter in a different manner, the presumption is there is a different intent. *Burrowes v. Killian*, 195 Wn.2d 350, 362, 459 P.3d 1082 (2020).

The Court of Appeals agreed there was no general exemption for platform work and thought the case was limited to the facts. Slip op.16. Yet the Board incorrectly relied on the

nature of the business model to conclude that the model equated to no coverage—just posting services as a platform. AR 6. And the Court of Appeals adopted that approach, concluding that "the TOS primarily sets forth the requirements for the use of its online platform." Slip op. 19. So the Court of Appeals and Board de facto exempted platform workers because use of the Rover platform created a disqualifier for coverage. Pet sitting is, after all, work normally covered under the Industrial Insurance Act.

The realities of the situation is that many platform businesses operate in the same way as Rover. Showing the need for review is that the Court of Appeals' approach could encourage copy-cat employers to wrongly escape coverage for their workers.⁹

⁹ The Board's reasoning is readily available to employers as the Board designated its decision in *A Place for Rover, Inc.* as a significant decision, RCW 51.52.160, available on the Board's website. http://www.biia.wa.gov/SDPDF/1911131.pdf.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Lyons and Dana's, which recognize that a worker who works with a third-party customer may also contract with an employer

The blueprints for looking to the realities of the situation in analyzing whether a person is a "worker" under the Industrial Insurance Act were set out in *Lyons* and *Dana's*. *Lyons* involved franchisees who performed janitorial work for customers and considered whether the franchisors were the franchisees' employer. *Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 727.

Under *Lyons*, that an injured person also works for a customer in addition to contracting with an employer is immaterial to determine coverage. *Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 738-39. There the Court recognized that there could be a contract among three parties to cover work. *Id. Lyons* argued for no coverage because "the customers receive the personal labor of the franchisees." *Id.* at 739. But *Lyons* stressed that "labor for an employer can include both direct labor and labor for an employer's benefit." *Id.*

Lyons drew from Dana's, which covered housecleaners working for both the employer and for the customers: "the existence of a third party customer doesn't place the worker outside the scope of industrial insurance coverage." Dana's, 76 Wn. App. at 608. Lyons distilled Dana's holding as "[t]he fact that homeowners received the cleaning benefit was not enough to exclude the housecleaners from IIA coverage." 185 Wn.2d at 738 (citing Dana's, 76 Wn. App at 608). Likewise, that the customers received a benefit from pet-care services does not exclude the providers from coverage.

The Court of Appeals didn't think the facts here were congruent with *Lyons* and *Dana's*. It pointed out that in those cases there were contracts between the companies and the customers, and then the workers were brought in to fulfill those contracts, and that "Rover had no obligations to the pet owners that it needed the pet service providers to fulfill." Slip op. 19.

But the Court of Appeals missed two things. First, the master contract governed the ambit of the subcontracts. And

Rover needed the Rover fee, guaranteed whenever a provider subcontracted with a Rover customer. This alone allowed Rover to function as a business. And even if Rover wasn't directly part of the subcontract negotiations, it didn't need to be because it was guaranteed a fee for quality labor under subcontract, and it placed contingencies on the subcontracts otherwise. *See infra* Part V.B.3.

Second, RCW 51.08.180 doesn't require a contractual obligation between Rover and the customers for the providers to fulfill, just that the providers work "under an independent contract" even if the labor was an indirect benefit to Rover. *See Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 739; *Dana's*, 76 Wn. App. at 608-09.

B. Safeguarding Those Working "Under an Independent Contract"—Even Ones Affecting Three Parties—Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

This case presents an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals' interpretation of basic terms in RCW 51.08.180 overly limits the Industrial Insurance Act's application to gig workers and will remove industrial insurance

21

coverage for many of them. RAP 13.4(b)(4). RCW 51.08.180 provides that a person "who is working under an independent contract, the essence of which is [their] personal labor for an employer under this title" is a worker. Considered here is whether injured people were "working under an independent contract." *See* Slip op. 17.

1. The definition of "under" directs coverage for work "below" the master contract

Pet-care providers work "under an independent contract," as RCW 51.08.180 requires. The dictionary defines "contract" as "[a]n agreement between two or more parties creating obligations that are enforceable or otherwise recognizable at law." Contract, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). "Independent" means "not subject to control by others." Independent, *Merriam-Webster Unabridged*. 10 "Under" means "in or into a position below or beneath something" and "in or

¹⁰ https://unabridged.merriam-webster.com/unabridged/independent (last visited June 19, 2023).

into a condition of subjection, regulation, or subordination."

Under, *Merriam-Webster Unabridged*. 11

In the phrase "working under an independent contract,"
"under" means something is "below" or "subordinate" to
something else. *Id.* So the work must flow from the contract.

The use of "under" creates a "but for" test. A master contract
here sets the parameters from which the work flows. It enables
the subcontracts—the work. "But for" the master contract, there
would be no work, so the subcontracts are under the master
contract.

Although the Terms of Service master contract doesn't set all the terms between the providers and customers, it does as to Rover's actions, especially about the ability of the providers to provide labor for Rover's benefit. Yet the Court of Appeals believed that an independent contract under RCW 51.08.180 must "assign specific work to the pet service providers." Slip

¹¹ https://unabridged.merriam-webster.com/unabridged/under (last visited June 19, 2023).

op. 19. This ruling strays far from the statute's plain language, which requires no such action.

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