FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/28/2023 4:36 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102143-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Petitioner,

v.

A PLACE FOR ROVER, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen M. Rummage WSBA No. 11168 Margaret A. Burnham WSBA No. 47860

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for A Place for Rover, Inc.

920 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300Seattle, WA 98104-1610(206) 622-3150 Phone(206) 757-7700 Fax

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. DLI's Petition Does Not Present Issues of Substantial Public Importance.

This case does not present "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Both the Superior Court and Division II affirmed the Board after review under the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), RCW 34.05 *et seq.* DLI's Petition does not challenge the Board's Findings of Fact as lacking evidentiary support, nor does it directly address the Board's Conclusions of Law. *See* RCW 34.05.570(3)(d), (e). DLI does nothing to suggest the Board's decision merits more review.

Rather than grapple with the evidence and the facts found by the Board, DLI contends "[t]he sheer scope of the effect of this decision on Washington gig workers warrants review" under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. 18. DLI asserts—without record support—"that many platform businesses operate in the same way as Rover." *Id*. Based on that unsubstantiated (and inaccurate) assertion, DLI frets that Division II's "approach could encourage copy-cat employers to wrongly escape coverage for their workers." *Id*.

This argument is made out of whole cloth, with no basis in the record, the procedural history, or Division II's decision, which expressly limits its scope to avoid far-reaching effects. In Division II, DLI similarly argued that the Board had erroneously created "a general exemption under RCW 51.08.180 for work involving an internet platform." Op. 16. Division II rejected that argument, noting that Rover did not "argue that a general exemption should be applied" and that "the Board did not apply such an exemption," instead ruling "on the specific facts of the case." *Id.* And Division II emphasized its decision, like the Board's, rested on "the specific facts of this case," not on the nature of platform work generally, and reiterated that "there is no exemption for internet platform work." *Id.* at 16, 18. The case presents no broad issue about "gig workers."³

³ And nothing suggests the "specific facts" that drove the decisions below can be extended to online platforms generally. Gig economy platforms typically involve a different model in which "companies ... do not merely create [a] marketplace," as Rover does; rather, "they also act as market participants who actively set prices and take into account user feedback." Alex Kirven, Comment, *Whose Gig Is It Anyway? Technological Change, Workplace Control and Supervision, and Workers*' *Rights in the Gig Economy*, 89 U. Colo. L. Rev. 249, 257-58 (2018) (referring to Uber and Lyft). These platforms "select, manage, and set minimum quality standards for their workforce," which the Board found *Rover does not*. Travis Clark, *The Gig is Up: An Analysis of the Gig-Economy and an*

Hoping to find a hook for review, DLI points to Division II's characterization of this dispute as "involv[ing] a 'grey area' between a person who clearly is a worker and a person who clearly is not," arguing that "gray areas" must be resolved in favor of IIA coverage. Pet. 15 (quoting Op. 17). But Division II's "grey area" reference suggests only an issue that cannot be resolved on a categorical basis, requiring a closer look at the facts. The Board (AR 6-8) and Division II (Op. 20) looked to "the specific facts of this case" and found for Rover. RAP 13.4 offers no basis to revisit the Board's ruling, as "[s]ubstitution of [this Court's] judgment for that of the administrative agency in factual matters is not authorized by the APA." *Franklin Cnty*. Sheriff's Off. v. Sellers, 97 Wn.2d 317, 325 (1982).

Nothing in the Board and Division II's fact-driven determinations undermines the principle that the IIA should be liberally construed, as DLI suggests. Division II recognized the

Outdated Worker Classification System in Need of Reform, 19 Seattle J. Soc. Just. 769, 774 (2021).

statutory liberal construction requirement. Op. 10. But the principle of liberal construction cannot create IIA coverage for circumstances that do not fall within the statute; even under liberal construction, the "primary goal is to ... give meaningful effect to the language our legislature enacted." *Doty v. Town of S. Prairie*, 155 Wn.2d 527, 533 (2005) (no IIA coverage for volunteer firefighters). Here, as each level of review has determined, no construction of the IIA leads to coverage. *See* Super. Ct. VRP 48:21-25; 49:11-19 (July 16, 2021) ("Rover simply does not meet the definition of an employer under RCW 51.08.070 with respect to the pet services providers.").

This fact-driven case does not present an issue of substantial public interest as to protection of "workers in the gig economy." Pet. 14.

B. Division II's Decision Does Not Conflict with *Lyons* or *Dana's*.

DLI argues Division II's finding that pet service providers are not covered "workers" under the IIA conflicts

20

with *Lyons* and *Dana's*. *See* Pet. 19-21. But Division II carefully analyzed those cases, each of which (like this case) affirmed the Board. Op. 11-13, 16-19. There is no conflict.

First, those cases did not even address the dispositive issue here. In Lyons and Dana's, the parties agreed the workers were independent contractors, so "the only issue the court addressed [in each case] was whether the essence of the [contracts] was the [workers'] personal labor." Op. 13; see Lyons, 185 Wn.2d at 735; Dana's, 76 Wn. App. at 602. Division II, on the other hand, did not need to analyze the "essence of the agreement" because it affirmed the Board's decision "under the specific facts of this case that the pet service providers were not 'working under an independent contract' with Rover." Op. 20. Division II's ruling cannot depart from Lyons and Dana's because it affirms the Board on grounds those cases do not address.

Second, the facts deemed material by the courts in *Lyons* and *Dana's* differ fundamentally from the facts here, as

Division II recognized. Op. 18 ("The facts here contrast with the facts in *Dana's Housekeeping* and *Lyons Enterprises*."). In *Lyons*, "Lyons enters into cleaning contracts with customers and offers the customers' accounts to one of its franchisees." 185 Wn.2d at 727. "Even after [the] franchisees accept a cleaning contract, the contract remains Lyons' property." Id. at 728. "Lyons also exercises significant control over both the methods utilized by franchisees and the cleaning contracts themselves since Lyons retains ownership over every contract." *Id.* at 739. Similarly, in *Dana's* the cleaners had no customers of their own: Dana's "assigns housecleaners to specific jobs, and makes all arrangements for the housecleaning." 76 Wn. App. at 602. Because the cleaners worked on Dana's contracts, it "intensely controlled scope, manner, quality, and by whom the work was performed." *Id.* at 609.⁴

⁴ Division II accepted DLI's contention that the absence of "control" is not dispositive in assessing whether providers work "under" an independent contract with Rover. Op. 17. But both *Lyons* and *Dana's* discussed evidence of control at length

This case has none of these characteristics. Rover has no contracts to provide pet care services to pet owners, AR 7 (Findings 3, 4, 7), so pet service providers are not devoting their labor to satisfy Rover's contract obligation—unlike in Lyons and Dana's. Instead, providers negotiate all aspects of their contracts for services with pet owners, and they (not Rover) decide how, when, or where to perform their services. Rover functions only as a booking agent, handling "financial 'businessy' crap," while providers manage their work under contracts they negotiate. AR 619 (provider testimony). And mere booking agents do not meet the statutory definition of employers under RCW 51.08.070. Cf. Cascade Nursing Services, Ltd. v. Empl. Sec. Dep't, 71 Wn. App. 23, 34 (1993) (nursing referral service not liable for unemployment taxes for

because it supported the inference that the cleaners were working for the entity that controlled them. No such inference is available here.

nurses for whom it acted as "scheduling and billing agent") (cited in Op. 13-14).

In asserting a conflict with *Lyons* and *Dana's*, DLI relies on a claim that Division II "missed two things": (1) Rover received its fee only after providers had a successful booking and (2) the law requires only that providers "work 'under an independent contract" with Rover, without regard to whether Rover has a contract with pet owners for pet care services. Pet. 20-21.⁵ But these amount to quibbles over inferences the Board (and Division II) drew from the facts—and at this point, all of these inferences must be drawn in *Rover's* favor. *Coaker*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 931. In any event, nothing was "missed": the Board flatly rejected DLI's factual arguments, determining that

⁵ DLI also argues that Division II's decision conflicts with *Lyons* and *Dana's* because here "the master contract [the TOS] governed the ambit of the subcontracts [with owners]." Pet. 20. The argument is not tied to *Lyons* or *Dana's*, and it contradicts settled facts: as every level of review has found, the contracts between owners and providers are negotiated and entered into independent of Rover, and they are not "governed" by or dependent on the TOS. *See* AR 6-7 (Board); Op. 3-4.

(a) Rover received its fee—no matter when it was paid—for"the use of Rover's online platform," not for pet care services,and (b) "service providers are not working or providing theirservices for Rover under a contract with Rover." AR 6.

On these facts, DLI has no basis for arguing that the decision below contradicts *Lyons* or *Dana's*.

C. Because the Board Found Providers Do Not Provide Services under Rover's TOS, the Case Does Not Present Any Policy Issues Concerning Work "Under an Independent Contract".

DLI argues Division II's ruling presents an issue of substantial public interest because it misinterprets the phrase "working under an independent contract." Pet. 22. DLI first suggests Division II held that an "independent contract under RCW 51.08.180 must 'assign specific work to the pet service providers" and argues this approach improperly makes "control" part of the inquiry. Pet. 23-24.

In fact, Division II simply followed the approach DLI advocated in ascertaining whether work is performed under an "independent contract." DLI's brief to Division II argued that an independent contractor within the meaning of the statute is someone "entrusted to undertake a specific project but who is left free to do the assigned work and to choose the method for accomplishing it." DLI Br., Dept. of Labor & Inds. v. A Place for Rover Inc., No. 56929-9-II (Oct. 26, 2022) at 36 (quoting Black's Law Dict. (11th ed. 2019) at 920). Division II thus responded *directly* to DLI's characterization of the test in recognizing that "Rover did not assign particular jobs to pet service providers" and "there was no requirement [in the Rover TOS] that pet service providers do any amount of work." Op. 18 (citing Kamla v. Space Needle Corp., 147 Wn.2d 114, 119 (2002)). Division II also agreed with DLI that "control" played no role assessing whether providers worked under an independent contract with Rover. Op. 17. Division II's analysis of the independent contract issue raises no reviewable issue because it followed the approach DLI advocated.

DLI then shifts to challenging the factual predicate to Division II's ruling, arguing that pet service providers *must* "do something" for Rover under the TOS because the TOS expressly contracts for "the provision of pet care services." Pet. 25 (citing Op. 18, AR 1326). But DLI's fragmentary quotation mischaracterizes the TOS.⁶ In the sentence DLI quotes, the TOS defines the "Rover Services" as its "software applications, resources and services for pet owners and pet service providers to find each other, communicate with each other, and arrange for the provision of pet care services." TOS ¶ 1 (AR 1326) (emphasis added). Thus, Rover provides *support* to businesses engaged in the "provision of pet care services," just as another company might provide support to law firms. But Rover does not contract to provide pet care services any more than a legal support company contracts to provide legal services. As Division II concluded in affirming the Board, "Rover did not

⁶ DLI repeats its inexcusable misquotation eight times. Pet. 1, 2, 5, 11 & n.8, 12, 25, 27, 28.

agree to perform any pet care services for [owners]"; instead, providers worked "'under an independent contract' not with Rover, but with the pet owner." Op. 19.

DLI's challenge to these determinations does not raise any issue of substantial public interest. Instead, it reargues facts to support its thrice-rejected argument that "the providers were working under an independent contract with Rover." Pet. 27; *see id.* at 27-30. But RAP 13.4 does not provide for Supreme Court review to reassess factual disputes, much less disputes that have been resolved and reviewed three times.⁷ *See* AR 6-7; VRP 48:21-25; 49:11-19 (July 16, 2021); Op. 19-20.

Finally, DLI claims *Lunday v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 200 Wn. 620 (1939), conflicts with Division II's

⁷ DLI's factual arguments consist of its interpretation of various TOS provisions, Pet. 27-30, ignoring testimony about the realities of how the platform works. But DLI's preferred reading of the TOS no longer matters: all evidence, including the TOS, must be viewed "in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed before the [Board]," i.e., Rover. *Coaker*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 931.

decision because it shows a worker *can* have simultaneous contracts with two employers. Pet. 26-27. There, a man was killed delivering meat and groceries for a grocery store. Although he was the grocery store's employee, he was delivering meat for a company that leased the meat department. In allowing the man's widow to recover under the IIA, the Court found he was *also* the meat company's employee⁸: a worker may have "the relationship of employee to two employers: a general employer who pays his wages and a special employer to whom he may be loaned and for whom he may be performing services." *Id.* at 624.

Lunday has no significance here—and certainly raises no reviewable issue. Division II did not question that a worker *could*, on the right facts, have two employers—as in *Lunday*. But those facts do not exist here: as the Board determined (and Division II affirmed), pet service providers do not perform

⁸ The IIA then covered only extrahazardous industries. Grocery stores were not extrahazardous; meat companies were.

personal labor under a contract with Rover. AR 6; Op. 20.

That case-specific determination does not conflict with Lunday.

V. CONCLUSION

DLI's Petition does not present a question of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review. DLI also has not shown that Division II's decision conflicts with precedent. The Court should deny review.

This document contains 4,971 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.